1965

Controlled Receivables, Inc. A Utah Corporation,
and Claude D. Harman, An Individual v. Don
Harman and Lila Harman, His Wife, and William
Blake Harmon aka Blake Harman and Colleen
Harmon, His Wife : Brief of Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This action is set out in two causes of action. The First Cause of Action is a suit to quiet title in the plaintiff Claude D. Harman and his successors in interest to the land in question located in Salt Lake County, Utah, being a part of the Southwest quarter of Section 29, Township 1 South, Range 1 West, Salt Lake Base and Meridian. (R. 14-15)

The Second Cause of Action asks the Court to set aside and declare null and void certain deeds under which the defendants claim an interest in subject property on the ground that there was no delivery, and on the additional ground that the deeds were intended to take effect only upon the death of plaintiff Claude D. Harman, and were an attempt to make a testamentary disposition of the property, and did not comply with the requirements for a testamentary disposition. (R. 15-17)

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The District Court granted defendants' motion for summary judgment, dismissing plaintiffs' complaint -- no cause of action. (R. 33) Plaintiffs appeal from such judgment.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiffs seek reversal of the District Court's summary judgment, dismissing plaintiffs' complaint, and re-

quest judgment in their favor voiding said deeds as a matter of law, or that failing, plaintiffs request an order remanding said action to the District Court for a trial of the issues.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff Claude D. Harman, since the year 1930, has been the owner and in possession of two parcels of property located in Salt Lake County, State of Utah, one of which has the general address of 3966 West 3500 South, Granger, Utah, consisting of $1\frac{1}{4}$ acres of ground, and fronts on 3500 South Street. (R. 40, p. 2 - Lines 18-25) There was a small, modest frame home constructed on this parcel in the early 1930's in which the plaintiff Claude D. Harman has lived since its construction to date, with his wife, until her death in approximately 1942 and in which the family was raised until they left home. The other parcel of property is approximately $8\frac{1}{3}$ acres of land and lies Northeast of the $1\frac{1}{4}$ acre parcel. (R. 43, p. 3 - Lines 18-22; p. 13 - Lines 21-25)

In 1947 the plaintiff, Claude D. Harman, then a widower with four children, all of whom were minors, (R. 40, p. 3 - Lines 1-3; p. 4 - Lines 12-13) was encouraged by his brother and sister-in-law to make arrangements so that in the event of his death his property would be divided equally among his children and avoid probate with all the expenses connected therewith. (R. 40, p. 3 - Lines 1-30)

His brother and sister-in-law, Franklin Harman and

his wife ^{by putting his property} Marian, suggested that such could be accomplished in his and his children's names, as joint tenants. (R. 40, p. 3 - Lines 20-28). Plaintiff Claude D. Harman, following the instruction of Franklin Harman, and believing that thereby he would retain complete ownership and control of said property and provide for the passing of it to his children upon his death, executed a deed to Franklin Harman (R. 41 p. 13 - Lines 6-25; R. 40, p. 4, Lines 16-19; p. 10 - Lines 25-30; p. 15 - Lines 12-15; p. 5 - Lines 15-19) and Franklin Harman, as strawman, executed a deed as grantor to Claude D. Harman and his minor children: Barbara Louise Harman, Blake Harman, Don Harman and Larry Harman, grantees, as joint tenants and not as tenants in common. (R. 40, p. 3 - Lines 10-11) These deeds were never delivered by Claude D. Harman to his children or any other person (R. 40, p. 8 - Lines 3-5), but somehow were recorded without the knowledge or consent of the plaintiff Claude D. Harman. (R. 40, p. 16 - Lines 11-15) Plaintiff Claude D. Harman continued to live on the home property and possess both of said parcels, exercising all the rights of ownership, paid all of the taxes on said property, (R. 40, p. 4 - Lines 28-29) paid for all upkeep and maintenance expenses, (R. 40, p. 4 - Line 30, p. 5 - Line 1) and in every way treated the property as being exclusively his. On the other hand, the defendants Don Harman and Blake Harman and the other children of Claude D. Harman, contributed nothing to maintaining the property. They were even paid by their father for all chores and work performed by them in and on the property. (R. 42,

p. 9 - Lines 13-30 and p. 10 - Line 1; R. 43, p. 4, Lines 12-30). Further, the children at all times treated and referred to the property as being exclusively their father's. For example, in 1959 defendant Don Harman requested his father to provide him with security so that he could purchase a service station business from Lynn Packard. Plaintiff Claude D. Harman executed a mortgage to Mr. Packard covering both of said parcels. (R. 40, p. 6 - Lines 1-19) Although all of the children were aware of the transaction, none objected to the mortgage and none thought it necessary that they sign. Don Harman did in fact sign the mortgage in connection with the other papers of the transaction, but did not know that he had signed the mortgage on his father's property until the note was paid off and the mortgage released and he found the mortgage among the papers. (R. 42, p. 11 - Lines 28-30, p. 12 - Lines 1-7) Also, late in the year 1963 the plaintiff Claude D. Harman, without obtaining the consent of any of his children and without any objection on the part of his children, sold the one parcel of land comprising approximately $8\frac{1}{3}$ acres to Pancake, Inc., a Utah corporation. (R. 40, p. 12 - Lines 2-16) In order to clear the record title to said property in connection with such sale, defendants Blake Harman and his wife Colleen, without requesting any consideration, executed a quit-claim deed to Claude D. Harman September 3, 1963, and defendants Don Harman and his wife and Larry Harman and his wife, and Barbara Louise Harman, without requesting any consideration, executed a quit-claim deed to Claude D. Harman October

4, 1963. (R. 40, p. 8 - Lines 16-22; p. 11 - Lines 21-30)

On May 23, 1964 Claude D. Harman was still treating the remaining property as being exclusively his, and without obtaining his children's consent executed an option to Pete Harman in which he agreed to sell to Pete Harman the said $1\frac{1}{4}$ acre parcel. (R. 40, p. 11 - Lines 1-20; p. 12 - Lines 5-16) Upon request and without any consideration or objection, Larry Harman and his wife and Barbara Louise Harman conveyed by quit-claim deed their record interest in the $1\frac{1}{4}$ acre parcel to their father, Claude D. Harman. (R. 40, p. 8 - Lines 23-28)

As was done in regard to the $8\frac{1}{3}$ acre parcel, Don Harman and Blake Harman were requested to give quit-claim deeds in regard to the $1\frac{1}{4}$ acre parcel, but they both refused to do so (R. 40, p. 8 - Lines 23-28), and this action was brought in order to clear the record title to the $1\frac{1}{4}$ acre parcel of property.

ARGUMENT

POINT NO. I

A. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT DISMISSING PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINT — NO CAUSE OF ACTION.

The District Court granted defendants' motion for summary judgment dismissing plaintiffs' complaint on the erroneous conclusion that plaintiffs are precluded as a matter of law from producing evidence to show that a deed under which the defendants are claiming an interest in subject property was not delivered and that said

deed was prepared and executed as an attempted testamentary distribution and is therefore void. The District Court's ruling is contrary to well established law in the State of Utah and if permitted to stand would open the gate to wholesale fraud in that any person could prepare a deed and claim title to property, and any person contesting the deed would be precluded from producing evidence to prove otherwise. (34 ALR 2d, 588, 593)

The District Court failed to follow well established law requiring it to consider the facts most favorable to the plaintiffs when considering defendants' motion for summary judgment. It further erred in not following Utah law which clearly permits testimony from the grantor and other evidence of acts and statements in determining whether or not the deeds were void for lack of delivery, and has failed to follow established law which permits plaintiffs to present testimony and other evidence at a trial to prove that the deeds were void because they were an attempted testamentary disposition which did not conform to testamentary requirements.

IN RULING ON THE DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT THE DISTRICT COURT WAS REQUIRED TO CONSIDER THE PLEADINGS AND DEPOSITIONS MOST FAVORABLE TO THE PLAINTIFFS.

The Utah Supreme Court in the case of *LaVere Kidman et ux. vs. Larine H. White, et al.*, 14 Utah (2d) 142, 378 P.2d 898, 900, stated the law in regard to the granting of summary judgment as follows:

“In confronting the problem presented on this appeal we have been obliged to remain aware that a summary judgment, which turns a party out of court without an opportunity to present his evidence, is a harsh measure that should be granted only when, taking the view most favorable to a party’s claim and any proof that might properly be adduced thereunder, he could in no event prevail.”

“See statement in *Samms v. Eccles*, 11 Utah (2d) 289, 358 P.2d 344 (1963).”

Plaintiffs’ amended complaint sets forth two causes of action. The First Cause of Action is a quiet title action and defendants should have been required to set forth their claims, if any, to an interest in the property and plaintiffs were entitled to a trial on the issues thus raised.

The Second Cause of Action seeks to have the deed under which defendants claim an interest in the property voided on the ground of lack of delivery, and on the further ~~found~~ that it was an attempted testamentary disposition. Plaintiffs should have been permitted to produce evidence at a trial and prove their contentions.

Plaintiffs have substantial evidence to present to the Court in regard to the two issues, — it being plaintiffs’ contention that the deeds were never delivered to the children at any time, and that the recording of the same was without the knowledge and consent of grantor Claude D. Harman. It is also plaintiffs’ contention that said Claude D. Harman, as grantor, never intended to pass any present interest to his minor children but was

merely following a form which he had been advised to use by his brother, with the belief and understanding that the deeds would take effect only upon his death.

At the time the District Court granted defendants' motion for summary judgment, the only things it had before it to consider were the pleadings and the depositions of plaintiff Claude D. Harman and defendants Don Harman and Blake Harmon. In Plaintiffs' pleadings and in plaintiff Claude D. Harman's deposition, plaintiffs have consistently and strenuously maintained that there was never a delivery of the deeds under which defendants claim an interest in subject property, and that such deeds were prepared and executed as an attempted testamentary disposition and do not conform to the Statute of Wills, and are therefore void. There is no evidence in either the defendants' pleadings or depositions to refute the contentions of plaintiffs and the defendants have contended that they have an interest in the property on the flimsy argument that deeds exist and that such deeds were recorded and that these two facts preclude plaintiffs from showing any evidence which would invalidate such deeds. Such, of course, is not the law, and it was error for the District Court to accept defendants' argument as the law and a basis for the summary judgment.

The Court's attention is called to the fact that defendants in their motion for summary judgment contend that there is no dispute as to the facts in the case. Therefore, in considering the summary judgment, the District

Court is required to consider the case most favorable to the plaintiffs, and in view of defendants' admission that there is no controversy concerning facts, then the allegation of the plaintiffs that there was no delivery, and that the deeds in question were attempted testamentary disposition and therefore void, must stand as established fact, and, further, in view of the fact that defendants have shown no evidence and apparently by reason of their motion for summary judgment do not intend to show any evidence to refute plaintiffs' contention, plaintiffs are entitled to a summary judgment declaring that the deed from Claude D. Harman, dated the 20th day of February, 1947, to Franklin Harman, as a straw man, and the deed from Franklin Harman to Claude D. Harman and his children, as joint tenants, bearing the same date, are void and of no effect, and that thereby defendants have no interest in the subject property.

B. A DETERMINATION OF WHETHER OR NOT THERE HAS BEEN A VALID DELIVERY REQUIRES THE COURT TO ASCERTAIN THE INTENT ON THE PART OF THE GRANTOR, AND PLAINTIFFS ARE ENTITLED TO A TRIAL IN REGARD TO THIS MATTER, WITH OPPORTUNITY TO PRODUCE EVIDENCE SHOWING THE INTENT OF THE GRANTOR.

The Utah Supreme Court has clearly established in this jurisdiction that the intent on the part of the grantor is the controlling factor in determining the validity of a deed. In *First Security Bank v. Burgi*, 122 Utah 445, 251 Pac (2d) 297, 299, The Utah Supreme Court held:

"Delivery is essentially a matter of intent. Such intent is to be arrived at from all the facts and surrounding circumstances both before and after the date of the deed, including declarations of the alleged grantor where it appears that the declarations are made fairly and in the ordinary course of life. *Stanley v. Stanley*, 97 Utah 520, 94 Pac. (2d) 465; *Mower v. Mower*, 64 Utah 260; 228 Pac. 814."

The issue in question in the case at bar is the intent of the grantor and the above cited *Burgi* case clearly states that the law in this jurisdiction is that the plaintiffs have a right to produce evidence concerning the surrounding circumstances, both before and after the date of the deed, "including declarations of the alleged grantor where it appears that declarations are made fairly and in the ordinary course of life." The District Court's summary judgment denied plaintiffs this very important right.

Other Utah Supreme Court cases which substantiate this position are *Stanley v. Stanley* 97 Utah 520, 94 Pac. (2d) 465, where this Court held as follows:

"In the course of these various transactions he had repeatedly stated and represented that he was the owner of the property, such statements, however, being admissible only upon the question of intent to presently pass title, if in fact, there had been a manual delivery."

See also the case of *Chamberlain v. Larsen*, 83 Utah 420, 29 Pac. (2d) 355, where the Supreme Court held as follows:

"The court committed no error in admitting evidence of the acts, conduct and declarations of Miss Bennett in reference ~~in~~^{to} the property, made after the date of the deed. Where as in this case the issue is whether the grantor named in the deed had ever parted with her title, evidence that the alleged grantor, after the signing of the deed, continued to pay taxes, carried the insurance in her own name, and offered to sell a portion of the property, was admissible on the issue of intention to deliver the deed."

Counsel for defendant cited to the District Court during the argument the line of cases in 31 ALR 27, contending that such cases were controlling in the instant matter. A reading of such cases will reveal that either the issue involved was something other than a determination of the intent of the grantor, which is the issue in this case, or the decision expressed a minority rule. The annotation cited in 34 ALR (2d) 588, 592, acknowledges that some jurisdictions have held the act and declaration of the grantor as inadmissible, but points out that the issue of intent was not present in such cases and concluded that where the question at issue is whether the grantor intended to make a legal delivery, i.e. unconditionally divest himself of title by instrument in the form of a deed of conveyance, declarations of such grantor are admissible as bearing on the vital question of intent for

the purpose of determining whether or not there was in contemplation of law an effective delivery. 34 ALR (2d) 588, 592:

"2. Although it is well settled that acts and declarations of a grantor made after he was parted with the title to the property in disparagement of its effective delivery are inadmissible when made in the absence of the grantee, a point conceded by many of the cases below, nevertheless the following cases hold or recognize that where the very question at issue is whether the grantor intended to make a legal delivery, that is, to unconditionally divest himself of the title by an instrument in the form of a deed of conveyance, declarations of such grantor after physically delivering the deed to the grantee or to a third person to hold for the grantee until some future time are admissible as bearing on the vital question of intent for the purpose of determining whether or not there was in contemplation of law an effective delivery."

Cases cited includes the following Utah case *Mower vs. Mower* (1924) 64 Utah 260, 228P. 911; *Chamberlain vs. Larsen*, (1934) 83 Utah 420, 29 P. 2d 355; *Stanley vs. Stanley* (1939) 97 Utah 520, 94 P. 2d 465; *First Security Bank vs. Burgi* (1952) 122 Utah 445, 251 P. 2d 297.

In support of the statement, the ALR annotation cites Utah and California cases as the key cases. The annotation goes on by acknowledging that there is some conflict between the decisions of different jurisdictions in regard to the question and says:

"But the better reasoned cases' as designated in 25 Columbia Law Review, 373, which may also be fairly considered the weight of authority, support the rule stated at the beginning of this section. In this connection, the following remarks from the law review article above cited may be adverted to: '*To exclude all evidence prejudicial to the grant after the alleged delivery is to beg the very question in issue, i.e. whether delivery ever occurred. That view, moreover, would open the door to fraud. By merely claiming delivery at a certain date, such evidence of non-delivery would be excluded. A person having forged a deed could keep out evidence of great importance, viz: the statements and actions of the supposed grantor, by the mere assertion that the delivery was on the purported date of the instrument.*'"

In many cases where this issue is raised the grantor is deceased, but the instance case is one of the few cases where the Court has an opportunity to hear testimony from the grantor in regard to his intent. The California Supreme Court has made it clear that the argument that such would be self-serving is not valid, and the grantor's testimony should be admitted.

See *Kelly v. Bank of America National Trust & Savings Association*, 242 Pac. (2d) 923 (Cal.), in which the Court stated in part as follows:

"However, where as here, the issue is whether the grantor intended that the deed should be presently operative, such testimony is admissible. *Huth v. Katz*, 30 Cal. (2d) 605, 608, 184 Pac. (2d) 521. As was said in *Whitlow v. Durst*, 20 Cal. (2d)

523, 127 Pac. (2d) 530, 531. When intent is a material element of a disputed fact, declarations of a decedent made after as well as before an alleged act that indicate the intent with which he performed the act are admissible in evidence as an exception to the hearsay rule, and it is immaterial that such declarations are self-serving. Thus, in cases involving the delivery of deeds, declarations of the alleged grantor made before and after the making of the deed are admissible upon the issue of delivery, *and it is immaterial that said declarations are in the interest of the party producing them.*" (cases cited) (emphasis added)

In order to avoid unnecessary repetition the Court's attention is called to the following cited cases which support the foregoing statement of the law.

Steinke v. Sztanka, et al. (1936) 364 Ill. 344, 4 N.E. 2d 472; *Mower v. Mower*, (1924) 64 Utah 260, 228 P. 911; *Chamberlain v. Larsen*, (1934) 83 Utah 420, 29 P. 2d 355; *Stanley v. Stanley*, (1939) 97 Utah 520, 94 P. 2d 265; and *First Security Bank v. Burgi*, (1952) 122 Utah 445, 251 P. 2d 297 Utah cases.

Counter v. Counter, 232 P. 2d 551 (Calif.) quoting with approval from *Azevedo v. Azevedo*, 1 Cal. App. 2d 504, 506, 36 P.2d 1078, 1079, that manual tradition is not enough but must be with intent of presently passing title. *Mademann et al. vs. Sexauer et al.*, 256 P.2d 34 (Calif); *Solomon v. Walton*, 241 P. 2d 49 (Calif.)

C. PLAINTIFFS SHOULD HAVE BEEN PERMITTED TO HAVE A TRIAL ON THE ISSUES AND PRODUCE EVIDENCE TO PROVE THEIR

CONTENTIONS THAT THE DEEDS IN QUESTION WERE VOID BY REASON OF THE FACT THAT THEY WERE AN INVALID ATTEMPT TO MAKE A TESTAMENTARY DISPOSITION.

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