1965

Controlled Receivables, Inc. A Utah Corporation,
and Claude D. Harman, An Individual v. Don
Harman and Lila Harman, His Wife, and William
Blake Harmon aka Blake Harman and Colleen
Harmon, His Wife : Brief of Respondent

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

Cases are thereafter cited including annotations at 9 L.R.L. (NS) 224, *Annotated Cases* 1912A, 237 and *Annotated Cases* 1914A, 88.

See also *Houts v. Montes*, 204 Okla. 215, 228 P. 2d 651 (1951). The rule is therein succinctly stated as follows:

“Possession by the grantor of a deed to a minor child voluntarily made and recorded by an adult grantor *constitutes delivery to the grantee unless a contrary intention clearly appears*. 16 Am. Jur., Deeds. §§ 135, 136, 137, 151; *Matson v. Johnson*, 48 Wash. 256, 93 P. 324, 125 Am. St. Rep. 924; *Tobin v. Bass*, 85 Mo. 654, 55 Am. Rep. 392; *O’Neal v. Turner*, 197 Okl. 527, 172 P. 2d 1013; Anno. 129 A.L.R. 21-25, 38-41. The evidence on behalf of Gertrude Bonesteel does not clearly show that she had no intention to vest title in her son Clarence and it is not contended that it does. If she received the deed from the Register of Deeds and Clarence never possessed it, her possession constituted delivery.” (Emphasis added)

In the April 2, 1965 deposition of Claude R. Harman (R. 40) the following questions and answers appear:

“Q. At the time these deeds were made out we refer to, that is to Franklin Harman and him back

to you and your children, were all of your children or any of your children of age?

A. No.

Q. They were all minors at that time?

A. All minors at that time." (R. 40, P. 4)

The above questions and answers were between Claude D. Harman and his own counsel. On cross-examination in the same deposition:

"Q. All right. Getting back to the 1947 deed naming you and your children as joint tenants, you indicated it was suggested to you by your brother and sister-in-law?

A. Absolutely.

Q. And what was your discussion about joint tenancy, as to what it did?

A. Never, never mentioned at all.

Q. They just said, "Put it in joint tenancy," and you did it?

A. Just put their names on the deed so it wouldn't have to go to court if something happened to me. That was all that was ever thought about.

Q. Who prepared the deeds?

A. I don't know who prepared the deeds.

Q. You didn't type them up yourself?

A. No, I can't run a typewriter.

Q. Do you know whether your brother and sister-in-law did?

A. I don't know. I think they might have, I never seen them.

Q. You don't know who prepared the deeds?

A. No, I do not know. No, sir.

Q. You knew you were putting your children's names on the deeds along with your own?

A. That is right.

Q. And you did it deliberately, that was your intention to do just that, correct?

A. Just that." (R. 40, P. 15)

In his second deposition dated April 22, 1965 (R. 41), he adds the following testimony:

"Q. Your testimony is you didn't ever say the property was in joint tenancy?

A. I said it was in their names if I died, that was all there is to it.

Q. Isn't that joint tenancy?

A. I imagine it is. I don't know the legal terms for it." (R. 41, P. 10)

* * * *

"Q. And you didn't know what would happen by putting it in joint tenancy?

A. I never did at that time, no.

Q. And you did it anyway?

A. I did it anyway, yes.

Q. Because your brother suggested it?

A. That is right.

Q. And for that reason only?

A. For that reason only.

Q. Didn't he as a matter of fact explain to you that in joint tenancy it was then owned by all the joint tenants?

A. No.

Q. And that with a death the remaining joint tenants owned it?

A. No.

Q. And that this would avoid a probate?

A. No.

Q. In fact in your previous deposition you indicated that that was the explanation he gave you, didn't you, it would avoid a probate?

A. It wouldn't have to go through court; they could all get their share without going through court, that is all. Maybe that is what they said, I don't know.

Q. And maybe you really asked them what joint tenancy was about at the time, didn't you?

A. I don't remember asking." (R. 41, P. 11-12)

* * * *

"Q. Precisely. And, Mr. Harman, at the time in 1947 when you had these deeds made to Mr. Frank Harman, your brother, and back again, who prepared them?

A. Their attorneys. I don't know who the hell prepared them.

Q. You don't know who prepared them?

A. No, I do not.

Q. You just remember signing it to him and getting a deed back from him—

A. That is right.

Q. —to you and your children?

A. That is right.

Q. And you knew at the time the deed ran to you and your children?

A. That is right.

Q. And it was your intention to put their names on that deed, right?

A. That is exactly right." (R. 41, P. 16-17)

Contrary to the statement and implication in Appellants' Brief claiming that the 1947 Deed (Exhibit 1)

was recorded without his "knowledge or consent," Claude D. Harman's testimony in that connection was as follows:

"Q. Incidentally back to the deeds in joint tenancy, the straw deed to your brother and back again, who had it recorded, who took the deeds in to be recorded, or were they recorded?"

A. They were never recorded that I know of, unless Frank did, my brother out there. I never brought it in and had it recorded. (R. 40, P. 16)

Exhibit 1 itself shows that it was recorded at the request of Claude's brother Franklin M. Harman — the straw man. There is no testimony that said recording was against Claude D. Harman's wishes or without his consent.

In connection with the quit-claim deeds running from the children back to Claude D. Harman supplementally filed as part of the record and noted above, contrary to Appellants' assertion in their Brief that said deeds were obtained without consideration and that Claude D. Harman sold the 8 1/3 acre parcel to Pancake, Inc., without his children's consent, the following testimony is illuminating:

"Q. Okay, thanks. But you did, as you indicated, get quit-claim deeds from all of the children relating to the 8 1/3 acres, is that correct? You say it was your property—

A. Absolutely.

Q. —And that you considered it yours. Why did you go to the trouble of getting deeds from them if you didn't think they owned anything?

A. When it was turned over and put their names on it, the way Marian signed it and Frank signed it, I had to get a quit-claim deed.

Q. From them?

A. From them.

Q. Why?

A. To clear the ground so I could give Pete a clear title to it.

Q. To clear it from what?

A. Whatever the hell they wanted to.

Q. From their interest in the property, right?

A. Absolutely." (R. 40, P. 20)

Of further importance is the testimony of Don Harman concerning the 8 1/3 acres as follows:

"Q. Did your father ever ask any advice from you in taking care of the property?

A. When we sold the back ground, we all agreed and met and I contacted my brother in Phoenix on the sale of the back ground. At that time he did ask advice on the sale of the back property.

Q. As a matter of fact isn't that time the first time you became aware that you were named along with your brothers and sister and your father as joint tenants on this property?

A. No, sir, definitely not.

Q. Your father entered into a contract for the sale of that 8 1/3 acres, wasn't it, earlier?

A. I don't know the size; it is eight and something. Yes.

Q. And that was property that was also described in the deed that Franklin Harman executed as a

straw man to your father and all of you children as joint tenants, wasn't it?

A. Yes.

Q. Thereafter, did you and your wife execute a quit-claim deed conveying your interest in the property to your father?

MR. MADSEN: By that property, what are you referring to?

MR. RICHARDS: The 8 1/3 acres.

A. *Yes, sir, after we all agreed as a group of children, with father present, that we would sell it. We contacted my brother, who is a CPA on proceedings to sell it and tax proceedings.*" (R. 42, P. 15) (Emphasis added)

Respondent Blake Harman in his deposition gave the following testimony about Exhibit 1, the deed Appellants seek to have voided:

"Q. As to the acre and a quarter piece, you indicated that you claimed an interest in that in 1947 as of the time you said the deeds were recorded, is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. How old were you in 1947?

A. Seventeen — sixteen, seventeen.

Q. Were you aware of those deeds at the time they were recorded?

A. I was told about them at that time.

Q. At that time?

A. Yes.

Q. By whom?

A. By my father.

Q. What were you told about them?

A. That the title had been transferred to all our names and that it could not be disposed of without the signature of all the children.

Q. Did he indicate that you had a present interest in the property therefore?

A. Yes.

Q. And you learned this at the time this transfer occurred in 1947?

A. Yes." (R. 43, P. 23)

With regard to his father's acknowledging the existence of a joint tenancy, the witness alluded to a conversation had in the office of an attorney by the name of John Rokich in Magna, Utah, at the time Claude D. Harman had engaged Mr. Rokich to prepare his will. The pertinent parts of the testimony are as follows:

"Q. Had any subsequent conversations been had between you and your father about that situation prior to any contact by Pete Harman or 35-40 Corporation?

A. Yes. When my father had his will drawn in— again I can't give you an exact date there. I was still going to the University — we went out to the attorney in Magna by the name of John Rokich, my father, myself and Rokich was present, and discussed the terms that my father wanted in his will. The discussion —

Q. Was there any discussion had about the title to that property?

A. This was brought up and Rokich asked how the property was handled and Dad said it was held in all of the names, therefore there would

be no question as far as the will was concerned about this property . . .”

“ . . . Q. This was a discussion with Rokich at the time?

A. Yes.

Q. And was the phrase “joint tenancy” used?

A. I can’t say that the term itself was used.

Q. But the discussion was to the effect that the property need not be mentioned in the will?

A. Yes.

Q. And this was when again?

A. It had to be in the 1948 or ’49.” (R. 43, P. 24)

In corroboration of this statement is the testimony of Respondent Don Harman as follows:

“Q. Now when did you first know or have any inkling that you and your brothers and sister were named as joint tenants with your father on a deed involving the home property? And I am speaking only of this property all the time unless I might include one other piece; but I am particularly speaking of this home.

A. Ever since I was a young child, my father always told us kids, ‘Don’t worry, I couldn’t sell this property if I wanted to.’ My father drank a lot and I feel — I don’t know — I feel this is why he put it in joint tenancy.

The rest of the brothers and sister and myself have always had the understanding that it was in joint tenant, this is as far I will say — it was in joint tenancy.

Q. How far back did you know it when you say that?

A. I could not recall, but as a child.” (R. 42, P. 12)

And again :

“Q. As a matter of fact your father never told you that, did he?”

MR. MADSEN: Told him what?

Q. Told you that this was held in joint tenancy?

A. It was a matter of fact that it was held in joint tenancy.

Q. I am asking you that, he never told you that?

A. Yes, my father has told us time and time again, all of the children, that it was in joint tenancy and that he could not sell it without our signatures on the paper.

Q. Tell me when that was said approximately. If you can't tell exactly, make it as nearly as you can.

A. I would say all through my life.” (R. 42, P. 14)

This matter is alluded to repeatedly in Don Harman's deposition (R. 42) at pages 17, 18, 24-26, and 28-29.

The above evidence, documentary and testimonial, demonstrates a clear admission on the part of Claude B. Harman of a creation of a joint tenancy in 1947. Notwithstanding that he does not now presently remember whether or not he then fully understood all the implications of joint tenancy, the deeds were executed and delivered with his knowledge and consent.

In each of the cases cited by Appellants in support of their position of non-delivery, there was evidence either in the form of a testamentary provision in the deeds themselves or in parol evidence at the time of de-

livery of the deeds to the intended parties, showing that no title was to vest until the demise of the grantor. All of said cases are not in point since there is *no* indication on the deed itself (Exhibit 1) showing a testamentary intent nor is there any statement in Mr. Claude D. Harman's deposition relating to the time of execution and delivery of these deeds placing any restriction, condition, escrow arrangement, or other type of reservation suggesting that no title pass.

Appellants allude to an exhaustive annotation in 31 A.L.R. 2d, beginning at page 532 and running for 78 pages thereafter. That annotation collects the cases construing instruments in the form of deeds which contain provisions indicating an intent to postpone or limit the rights of the grantee until after the death of the grantor. This annotation is supplementing an earlier annotation found at 11 A.L.R. 49. At page 555, the annotator writes:

“As pointed out in the original annotation, under the established rule of law that parol evidence is inadmissible to contradict or vary the terms of a written instrument whose language is unambiguous, the admission of the parol evidence upon the question of the intent of the maker of an instrument in the form of a deed, containing provisions indicating an intent to postpone or limit the rights of the purported grantee until the maker's death, *is limited strictly to cases in which the language of the instrument is ambiguous and the intent of the maker as to the interest intended to be passed is not clerly apparent therefrom.*” (Emphasis added)

Contrary to the assertion of appellants "that there is some conflict between the decisions of different jurisdictions," those cases there collected in the annotation just cited show that the overwhelming weight of authority supports the paragraph above quoted.

There being absolutely no ambiguity on the face of the 1947 deed evidencing a testamentary intent that document is not now subject to ancillary attack by use of parol evidence.

Respondents wish to raise a further issue of laches. Since this deed was executed and recorded eighteen years ago and since plaintiff-appellant Claude D. Harman has in the interim executed, in company with one of the defendant-respondents and wife, a mortgage on the property (Exhibit 2), and since, further, a correction deed was obtained in 1963 acknowledging the joint tenancy with his knowledge and consent; and further, he obtained quit-claim deeds from his children when selling the 8 1/2 acre parcel in 1964, respondents maintain that the rule of *Preas v. Phebus*, 2 Ut. 2d 229, 272 P. 2d 159, 162 (1954) applies.

In that case a party to a contract for royalties from a producing oil well sought to invalidate the contract by virtue of a non-performance cancellation clause contained in the contract. This court upheld the contract with the following language:

"Since the plaintiff made no attempt to avail himself of this right for many years, during which time a producing well was discovered on the prop-

erty and large sums of money were expended by defendants in developing the structure, the plaintiff cannot now enforce a breach of which has been waived and indeed barred by the Statute of Limitations. 1 Tiffany, *The Law of Real Property* (3rd ed.) pp. 336-348; 31 L.R.A. 673; *Westmoreland, Etc., Natural Gas Co. v. DeWitt*, 130 Pa. 235, 18 A. 724, 5 L.R.A. 731; *Deming Investment Co. v. Lanham*, 36 Okl. 773, 130 P. 260, 44 L.R.A., N.S., 50."

Appellants have further urged in this appeal that they are entitled to a trial on the separate and distinct claim of quiet title asserting such a cause of action was spelled out in their amended complaint. Respondents maintain, however, that a quiet title action cannot arise unless plaintiffs-appellants succeed in their action to have the deed (Exhibit 1) set aside. This issue was also alluded to in the *Preas Case* cited above, and the language of the court in that connection is also relative here:

"Plaintiff next contends that this action is fundamentally one to quiet title; *that a cause of action will not arise until there is knowledge of a hostile claim*; and that plaintiff was not aware of defendants' claim until he first saw the endorsement on the royalty check received from Equity Oil Company in November 1948. We do not agree. Plaintiff was fully aware of the failure of defendants to adhere to the conditions set forth in Exhibit C and he failed to exercise his option to effect a reconveyance. *He was aware of the material facts; he simply misconstrued the law* by assuming that the assignment would automatically terminate. Whether we construe his failure to act as a waiver of his rights or state that this rights are barred by the Statute of Limitations, we reach the same

point expressed by this court in *Meagher v. Utah Gas Co.*, Utah 255 P2d 989, 994.' (Emphasis added)

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